#### **By-laws**

#### Of

# Lowndes County Sports Hall of Fame, Inc. A Nonprofit Corporation

\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*

## **Article One Introduction**

#### A. Definition of Bylaws

These bylaws constitute the code rules adopted by Lowndes County Sports Hall of Fame, Inc. for the regulation and management of its affairs.

#### **B.** Purpose and Powers

- 1. The primary purpose of the Corporation is to establish a sports hall of fame to honor individuals who have made significant achievements in his/her respective sport(s) and as a result of said achievements, the individuals have made significant contributions and have brought recognition to the County of Lowndes, Mississippi.
- 2. The Corporation will have the purposes or powers as may be stated in its Articles of Incorporation, and such powers as are now and may be hereafter granted by law.
- 3. To maximize our impact on current efforts, we may seek to collaborate with other non-profit organizations which fall under the 501(c) (3) section of the internal revenue code and are operated exclusively for educational and charitable purposes.
- 4. At times, per the discretion of the Board of Directors, we may provide internships or volunteer opportunities which shall provide opportunities for involvement in said activities and programs in order to have a greater impact for change.
- 5. The corporation shall have the power, directly or indirectly, alone or in conjunction or cooperation with others, to do any and all lawful acts which may be necessary or convenient to affect the charitable purposes, for which the corporation is organized, and to aid or assist other organizations or persons whose activities further accomplish, foster, or attain such purposes. The powers of the corporation may include, but not be limited to, the acceptance of contributions from the public and private sectors, whether financial or in-kind contributions.
- 6. Nonprofit Legal Status. Lowndes County Sports Hall of Fame Inc is a Mississippi non-profit public benefit corporation, recognized as tax exempt under Section 501(c)(3) of the United States Internal Revenue Code.
- 7. Tax Exemption. Said organization is organized exclusively for charitable, religious, educational, or scientific purposes, including, for such purposes, the making of

distributions to organizations that qualify as exempt organizations under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code or corresponding section of any future federal tax code.

The Corporation must ensure that its tax-exempt status is maintained by complying with all applicable federal and state requirements including Internal Revenue Service (IRS) policies. As a 501(c)(3) organization, when the Corporation chooses to lobby it shall not exceed the allowable 501(c)(3) limits.

8. Distribution Upon Dissolution. Upon termination or dissolution of Lowndes County Sports Hall of Fame Inc, any assets lawfully available for distribution shall be distributed to one (1) or more qualifying organizations described in Section 501(c)(3) of the 1986 Internal Revenue Code (or described in any corresponding provision of any successor statute) which organization or organizations have a charitable purpose which, at least generally, includes a purpose similar to the terminating or dissolving corporation.

The organization to receive the assets of Lowndes County Sports Hall of Fame Inc hereunder shall be selected in the discretion of a majority of the managing body of the corporation, and if its members cannot so agree, then the recipient organization shall be selected pursuant to a Verified Petition in equity, or such other court of appropriate jurisdiction, filed in a court of proper jurisdiction against Lowndes County Sports Hall of Fame Inc, by one (1) or more of its managing body, which Verified Petition shall contain such statements as reasonably indicate the applicability of this section. The court upon a finding that this section is applicable shall select the qualifying organization or organizations to receive the assets to be distributed, giving preference if practicable to organizations located within the State of Mississippi.

In the event that the court shall find that this section is applicable but that there is no qualifying organization known to it which has a charitable purpose, which, at least generally, includes a purpose similar to Lowndes County Sports Hall of Fame Inc, then the court shall direct the distribution of its assets lawfully available for distribution to the Treasurer of the State of Mississippi to be added to the general fund.

# Article Two Offices and Agency

#### A. Principal and Branch Offices

The principal place of business of the Corporation in Mississippi will be located at the Columbus-Lowndes Convention & Visitors Bureau in Columbus, Mississippi. In addition, the Corporation may maintain other offices either within or without the State of Mississippi as its business may require.

#### **B.** Location of Registered Offices

The location of the initial registered office of the Corporation is 300 Main Street, Columbus, Ms 39701. Such office will be continuously maintained in the State of Mississippi and the County of Lowndes for the duration of the Corporation. The Board of Directors may from time to time change the address of its registered office by duly adopted resolution and filing the Mississippi Secretary of State office.

### Article Four Directors

#### A. Definition of Board of Directors

The Board of Directors is vested with the management of the business of the Corporation subject to the law, the Articles of Incorporation, and the bylaws.

#### **B.** Number of Directors

The number of Directors of the Corporation shall be no less than five and no more than fifteen.

#### C. Terms of Directors

The Directors constituting the first Board of Directors as named in the Articles of Incorporation will hold office until December 31, 2024. Thereafter, Directors will be elected by the members of the board at the monthly board meeting preceding the expiration of the then current Board's term. They shall be elected for a term of two (2) years, said tenure to begin January 1 and end on December 31 of the second year. Each officer will hold office for which elected and until a successor has been selected and qualified. One-half of the Directors will rotate off annually. Directors may be re-elected for additional two-year terms.

#### **D.** Removal of Directors

A Director may be removed from office when such action will serve the best interest of the Corporation and must be by a two-thirds vote of remaining Directors.

#### E. Vacancies on the Board

Resignation of Directors will become effective immediately, or on the date specified therein, and vacancies will be deemed to exist as on such effective date. Any vacancy occurring in the Board of Directors, and any directorship to be filled by reason of an increase in the number of directors, will be filled by appointment by the Board of Directors. The new Director appointed to fill the vacancy will serve for the unexpired term of the predecessor in office.

#### F. Places of Directors Meetings

Meetings of the Board of Directors, regular or special, will be held at such location as designated by the Board of Directors. The place of meeting for a specific meeting may be altered by the President.

#### **G.** Regular Directors Meetings

Regular meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held as set by the Board of Directors.

#### **H.** Notice of Special Meetings of Directors

Members of the Board of Directors will be given oral or written notice stating the place, day, and hour of any special meeting not less than five (5) days before the meeting. This notice may be waived by a written waiver executed by any Director.

#### I. Call of Special Meeting of the Board of Directors

A special meeting of the Board of Directors may be called by the President or Vice President.

#### J. Manner of Acting

- 1. Quorum. A majority of the Directors in office immediately before a meeting shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at that meeting of the Board. No business shall be considered by the Board at any meeting at which a quorum is not present.
- 2. Majority Vote. Except as otherwise required by law or by the Articles of Incorporation, the act of the majority of the Directors present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Board.
- 3. Hung Board Decisions. On the occasion that Directors of the Board are unable to make a decision based on a tied number of votes, the President or Treasurer in the order of presence shall have the power to swing the vote based on his/her discretion.
- 4. Participation. Except as required otherwise by law, the Articles of Incorporation, or these Bylaws, Directors may participate in a regular or special meeting through the use of any means of communication by which all Directors participating may simultaneously hear each other during the meeting, including in person, internet video meeting or by telephonic conference call.

### Article Five Officers

#### **A.** Identity of Officers

Glenn Laulzenhiser President
Trip Hairston Vice President
Henry Matuszak Secretary

Tom Buckley Treasurer

#### **B.** Selection of Officers

Each of the Officers of the Corporation will be selected by a vote of the Board of Directors for a term of one year, which will begin on January 1 and will end on December 31 of the following year. Except in the event of resignation, each officer will remain in office until a suitable replacement for that office has been selected and qualified. Such election will take place in December. If an office of the Corporation shall become vacant during the term of said office, then the Board of Directors shall appoint an Officer to fill vacancy of said office until the next scheduled election of said Officer.

#### C. Multiple Officeholders

In any election of Officers, the Board Members of the Corporation may elect a single person to any two offices simultaneously, except that the offices of President and Treasurer must be held by separate individuals.

#### D. President

The president will be the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation and will, subject to the control of the Board of Directors or Directorial Committees, supervise and control the affairs of the Corporation. The President will perform all duties incident to such office and such other duties as may be provided in these Bylaws or as may be prescribed from time to time by the Board of Directors.

#### E. Vice-President

The Vice-President will perform all duties and exercise all powers of the President when the President is absent or is otherwise unable to act. The Vice-President will perform such other duties as may be prescribed from time to time by the Board of Directors.

#### F. Secretary

The Secretary will keep minutes of all meetings of Members of the Board of Directors, will be the custodian of the corporate records, will give all notices as are required by law or by these Bylaws, and generally will perform all duties incident to the office of Secretary and such other duties as may be required by law, by the Articles of Incorporation or by these Bylaws, or which may be assigned from time to time by the Board of Directors.

#### G. Treasurer

The treasurer will have charge and custody of all funds of this corporation, will deposit the funds as required by the Board of Directors, will keep and maintain adequate and correct amounts of the Corporation's properties and business transactions, will render reports Members or by law, and will perform in general all duties incident to the office of Treasurer and such other duties as may be required by law, by the Articles of Incorporation, or by the Bylaws, or which may be assigned from time to time by the Board of Directors.

#### H. Removal of Officers

Any officer elected or appointed to office may be removed by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the Board of Directors whenever in their judgment the best interest of the Corporation will be served.

#### Article Six Informal Action

#### A. Waiver of Notice

Whenever any notice whatever is required to be given under the provisions of the law, the Articles of Incorporation, or the Bylaws, a waiver of such notice in writing signed by the person or persons entitled to notice, whether before or after the time stated in such waiver, will be deemed equivalent to the giving of such notice. Such waiver must, in the case of a special meeting of Members, specify the business to be transacted at such meeting.

#### **B.** Action by Consent

Any action required by law or under the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws, or any action which otherwise may be taken at a meeting of either the Members or Board of Directors may be taken without a meeting if a consent in writing, setting forth the action so taken, is signed by all of the persons entitled to vote with respect to the subject matter of such consent, or all Directors in office, and filed with the Secretary of the Corporation.

#### Article Seven Committees

#### A. Definition

The Corporation will have certain committees, each of which will consist of a specific number of individuals as provided for in the Bylaws of the Corporation to operate as part of the corporate management and with the following specific and prescribed authority of the Board to exercise in the management of the Corporation. The committees of the Corporation are as follows:

- 1. Selection Committee: This committee shall consist of members selected by the Board of Directors, which should include representative of each high school and college area. The members shall serve for a period of one (1) year beginning January 1 and ending December 31 of this following year. The members may be re-appointed. A chairperson of this committee shall be selected by the committee members, and said chairperson shall call and nominee to the Lowndes County Sports Hall of Fame is as follows:
- (a) A nominee must be a native or have been a resident or have attended school or have coached or have worked in Lowndes County, Mississippi; and
- (b) A nominee who is over the age of forty (40) years old is eligible to be nominated into said Hall of Fame; however, anyone **under** forty (40 years of age may be nominated into said Hall of Fame if he/she has been **inactive** from the athletic sport which has brought fame for a period of **fine (5) years**; and
- (c) A nominee should have made significant contributions to his/her respective communities in addition to athletic accomplishments; and
- (d) Nominees may be or have been athletes, coaches, administrators, officials, team doctors, media or any similar position that have made significant contributions to athletics and their respective communities; and

All nominations of said nominees into the Lowndes County Sports Hall of Fame shall be in writing and must be submitted to the Selection Committee on a form provided by the Board of Directors. When a name has been submitted for nomination into said Hall of Fame, it shall be considered each year thereafter for induction in said Hall of Fame. When all of the nominees are before this committee, a vote of seventy five percent (75%) of all committee members eligible to vote is necessary to elect the nominees into the Lowndes County Sports Hall of Fame.

- **2.** Ceremonies and Awards Committee: This committee will consist of members appointed by the Board of Directors. Each member shall have a term of one (1) year beginning January 1 and ending December 31 of the following year. The members may be re-appointed. A chairperson of this committee shall be selected by the committee members and said chairperson shall call and preside over all meetings of the committee. The duties of this committee shall be to organize and arrange the induction ceremonies of the Hall of Fame inductees and to purchase plaques for inductees.
- **3. Audit Committee:** This committee shall consist of three (3) members appointed by the President and Secretary of the Corporation. Each member shall have a term of one (1) year beginning January 1 and ending December 31 of the following year. The members may be re-appointed. A chairperson of this committee shall be selected by the committee members and said chairperson shall be selected by the committee members, and said chairperson shall call and preside over all meetings of the committee. The duties of this committee shall be to review the books of the Corporation at least ten (10) days prior to each quarterly Board meeting and report their findings to the Board at the quarterly meetings.
- **4. Other Special Committees:** The President may appoint any additional committees he or she may deem necessary to carry out the purpose of the Corporation.

# **Article Eight Operations**

#### A. Fiscal Year

The fiscal year of the operation will be from January 1 to December 31 of each year.

#### **B.** Execution of Documents

Except as otherwise provided by law, checks, drafts, promissory notes, orders for payment of money, and other evidences of indebtedness of the Corporation will be signed by any two of the following: President, Vice President, Secretary and Treasurer. Contracts, leases, or other instruments executed in the name of and on behalf of the Corporation will be signed by the President and the Secretary and will have attached copies of the resolutions of the Board of Directors certified by the Secretary authorizing their execution.

#### C. Books and Records

Correct and complete books and records of accounts and minutes of the proceedings of its Members, Board of Directors, and Committees will be kept and maintained at its principal place of business.

#### D. Inspection of Books and Records

All books and records of the Corporation may be inspected by any Member, or his agent or attorney, for any proper purpose at any reasonable time on written demand stating such purpose.

#### **E.** Nonprofit Operations-Compensation

The Corporation will not have or issue shares of stock. No dividends will be paid, and no part of the income of the Corporation will be distributed to its members, Directors, or Officers. The Corporation may however, pay compensation in a reasonable amount to Members, Officers, or Directors for services rendered to the Corporation.

#### **Article Nine Amendments**

#### **A.** Amendment of Articles of Incorporation

The power to alter, amend, modify or repeal the Articles of Incorporation is vested in the Board of Directors by a two-thirds vote of Directors.

#### B. Amendment of Bylaws

The power to alter, amend, modify or repeal the Bylaws is vested in the Board of Directors upon motion duly made and present and approved be a two-thirds vote of Directors.

Adoption of Bylaws
Adopted by the Board of Directors by resolution on the 10 day of October, 2023, at Columbus, MS

Signed by Secretary